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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of
CERTAIN COLD CATHODE FLUORESCENT Investigation No. 337-TA-666
LAMP (“CCFL”) INVERTER CIRCUITS AND
PRODUCTS CONTAINING THE SAME

NOTICE OF COMMISSION FINAL DETERMINATION OF NO VIOLATION OF
SECTION 337; TERMINATION OF INVESTIGATION

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined to review portions of the final initial determination (“ID”) issued by the presiding
administrative law judge (“ALJ”) on April 19, 2010, and to affirm the final ID’s finding of no
violation of section 337 on modified grounds. The above-captioned investigation is terminated.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Daniel E. Valencia, Office of the General
Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436,
telephone (202) 205-1999. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection with this
investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45 a.m. to
5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street,
S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information concerning the
Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at http./www.usitc. gov. The
public record for this investigation may be viewed on the Commission’s electronic docket
(EDIS) at hrtp.//edis. usitc. gov. Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on this
matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission instituted this investigation on
January 14, 2009, based on a complaint filed by O2 Micro International, Ltd. of the Cayman
Islands and O2 Micro, Inc. of Santa Clara, California. 74 Fed. Reg. 2099. The complaint alleges
violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. § 1337) in the importation into the
United States, the sale for importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of
certain cold cathode fluorescent lamp inverter circuits and products containing the same by
reason of infringement of various U.S. patents. The complaint names ten respondents, including
Monolithic Power Systems Inc. of San Jose, California (“MPS”); Microsemi Corporation of
[rvine, California (“Microsemi”); ASUSTeK Computer Inc. of Taipei, Taiwan and ASUS
Computer International America of Fremont, California (collectively, “ASUS”).



On April 19, 2010, the ALJ issued his final ID finding no violation of section 337 in the
importation into the United States, the sale for importation, and the sale within the United States
after importation of CCFL inverter circuits and products containing the same by reason of
infringement of U.S. Patent 7,417,382 (“the ‘382 patent™). The Commission investigative
attorney (“IA”), complainant O2 Micro, respondents MPS and ASUS, and respondent Microsemi
each filed petitions for review of the ID on May 3, 2010. The IA, O2 Micro, respondents MPS
and ASUS, and respondent Microsemi each filed responses to the petitions for review on May
11, 2010.

Having examined the record of this investigation, including the ALJ’s final ID, the petitions for
review, and the responses thereto, the Commission has determined to review the final ID in part.
In particular, the Commission has determined to review (1) the ID’s findings that the LX1691
and L.X1693 Microsemi products infringe the asserted claims of the ‘382 patent, and (2) the ID’s
finding that O2 Micro has not satisfied the domestic industry requirement.

Upon review, the Commission has determined to (1) reverse the ALJ’s findings that the LX1691
and LX1693 Microsemi products infringe the asserted claims of the ‘382 patent, and (2) reverse

the ALJ’s determination that O2 Micro has not satisfied the domestic industry requirement. The
Commission has determined that neither MPS, ASUS, nor Microsemi have violated section 337,
and has terminated the investigation. A Commission opinion will issue shortly.

The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the Tariff Act of
1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), and in sections 210.42-50 of the Commission’s Rules of
Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. §§ 210.42-50).

By order of the Commission.

Secretary to the Commission

Issued: June 18, 2010
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of

CERTAIN COLD CATHODE FLUORESCENT Investigation No. 337-TA-666
LAMP (“CCFL”) INVERTER CIRCUITS AND
PRODUCTS CONTAINING THE SAME

COMMISSION OPINION

On April 19, 2010, the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) issued a final initial
determination (“ID”) finding no violation of section 337 by all active respondents in connection
with U.S. Patent No. 7,417,382 (“the ‘382 patent™). The Commission has determined to affirm,
on modified grounds, the ALJ’s finding that no violation of section 337 has occurred. In
particular, the Commission has determined to review and reverse the ALI’s findings that accused
LX1691 and LX1693 products of respondent Microsemi Corporation (“Microsemi”) infringe as
well as his finding that complainant does not satisfy the domestic industry requirement.

I. BACKGROUND

A. Procedural History

On January 8, 2009, the Commission instituted this investigation, based on a complaint
filed by O2 Micro International Ltd. of the Cayman Islands and O2 Micro Inc. of Santa Clara,
California (collectively, “O2 Micro”), naming, as respondents, Monolithic Power Systems Inc. of
San Jose, California (“MPS”); Microsemi of Irvine, California; ASUSTeK Computer Inc. of

Taipei, Taiwan and ASUS Computer International America of Fremont, California (collectively,
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“ASUS”), among others. 74 Fed. Reg. 2099 (2009).! 02 Micro alleged violations of section 337
of the Tariff Act of 1930, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, in the importation into the United States, the sale for
importation into the United States, or the sale after importation into the United States of certain
CCFL inverter circuits and products containing the same by reason of infringement of the ‘382
patent as well as certain claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,809,938 (“the ‘938 patent™); 7,120,035
(“the ‘03;5 patent”); and 6,856,519 (“the ‘519 patent”). The ‘938, ‘519, and *035 patents have
been terminated from the investigation.

The ALJ determined by summary determination that O2 Micro satisfies the economic
prong 6f the domestic industry requirement for the ‘382 patent and that respondent ASUSTeK
Computer Inc.’s activities satisfy the importation requirement of section 337. An evidentiary
hearing was held from October 19, to October 30, 2009. On January 15, 2010, the ALJ ordered
supplemental briefing from the parties on certain claim construction issues. See Order No. 45
(January 15, 2010). The ALJ issued the subject final ID on April 19, 2010, finding inter alia that
complainant O2 Micro’s domestic product does not meet the technical prong of the domestic
industry requirement for the ‘382 patent. 1D at 178. The ALJ found that certain products of
respondent Microsemi infringe the asserted claims of the ‘382 patent, but that none of the
products of respondents MPS and ASUS infringe. 1D at 26-106. The ALJ further found that the
asserted claims of the ‘382 patent are not unenforceable and are not invalid. ID at 119-168. On
the same day the final ID issued, the ALJ issued Order No. 49, granting in part O2 Micro’s

motion to strike certain testimony from the record. See Order No. 49. On May 3, 2010, O2

! The complaint also named LG Electronics of Seoul, Korea and LG Electronics U.S.A of
Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey; LG Display Co., Ltd. of Seoul, Korea and LG Display America,
Inc. of San Jose, California; BenQQ Corporation of Taipei, Taiwan and BenQ America Corp. of
Irvine, California, but these respondents have been terminated from the investigation.
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Micro, the Commission Investigative Attorney (“I1A”), MPS, ASUS, and Microsemi filed
petitions for review of the ID.2 02 Micro, Microsemi, MPS and ASUS, and the IA each filed
responses to each others’ petitions for review on May 11, 2010.> On June 18, 2010, the
Commission determined to review the ID in part. In particular, the Commission affirmed the
ALJ’s finding that no violation of section 337 occurred, but reversed (1) the ALJ’s findings that
the LX1691 and L.X1693 Microsemi products infringe the asserted claims of the ‘382 patent, and
(2) his finding that O2 Micro has not satisfied the domestic industry requirement.
B. Patent at Issue

The only patent remaining at issue, the ‘382 patent, is entitled “High Efficiency Adaptive
DC/AC Converter,” and is based on a long line of continuation applications claiming priority
from U.S. Patent Application No. 60/145,118, filed July 22, 1999. See JX-1 (‘382 patent) at
O2ITC 037273. The ‘382 patent has a filing date of September 7, 2004, and an issue date of

August 26, 2008. Id. The ‘382 patent names Yung-Lin Lin as the inventor, and is assigned to

* See Complainants O2 Micro International Ltd. and O2 Micro Inc.’s Petition for Review of the
Final Initial Determination (“O2 Micro Pet.”); Petition of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations
For Review of Portions of the Initial Determination on Violation of Section 337 (“IA Pet.”);
Respondents Monolithic Power Systems, Inc., ASUSTEK Computer Inc., and ASUS Computer
International’s Petition for Review (“MPS Pet.”); and Respondent Microsemi Corporation’s Petition
for Review of the Initial Determination and Order No. 49 (“Microsemi Pet.”).

3 See Response of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations to the Private Parties’ Petitions for
Review (“IA Resp.”); Respondent Microsemi Corporation’s Response to O2 Micro’s Petition for
Review (“Microsemi Resp.”); Complainants O2 Micro International Ltd. and O2 Micro Inc.’s
Response to the Petitions for Review of the Final Initial Determination Filed By Respondents
Microsemi Corporation, Monolithic Power Systems, Inc., ASUSTek Computer Inc., and ASUS
Computer International, and the Office of Unfair Import Investigations (“*O2 Micro Resp.”); and
Respondents Monolithic Power Systems, Inc., ASUSTEK Computer Inc., and ASUS Computer
International’s Combined Response to Complainants’ O2 Micro International Ltd. and O2 Micro
Inc.’s and to the Office of Unfair Import Investigations’ Petition for Review of the Final Initial
Determination (“MPS Resp.”).

3



Public Version
02 Micro. Id. Independent claims 1 and 8 as well as dependent claims 2, 4, 7, 9, and 11 are
asserted. Pages 6-12 of the ID contain a detailed discussion of the technology of the ‘382 patent.
C. Products at Issue

The products at issue in this investigation are CCFL inverter circuits and products
containing the same, for example, modules, boards, notebook computers, and liquid crystal
display monitors that incorporate them. Page 12 of the ID identifies a number of MPS inverter
controller products accused of infringing the ‘382 patent. The inverter controller MP1015 is
representative of the accused MPS products. ID at 12. All of ASUS’s accused products
incorporate MPS products that are alleged to infringe the ‘382 patent. /d. Three families of
Microsemi inverter circuits are accused of infringement of the ‘382 patent: the LX1691, LX1692,
and LX1693 inverter controller families. Id.

Generally, these products include an overvoltage protection mechanism that shuts down
the device after a time when an overvoltage condition occurs. Some of these products determine
the shut down time by charging a capacitor, while others use a counter to count pulses that are
indicative of the overvoltage condition. Some of these products allow the overvoltage condition
to continue uninterrupted for the specified time, and others temporarily remove the overvoltage
condition through voltage regulation.

II. DISCUSSION
A. Claim Construction of “Timer Circuit”
The “timer circuit” and “protection circuit” limitations of claims 1 and 8 require:
a timer circuit coupled to said first feedback signal line for providing a

time-out sequence of a predetermined duration when said first voltage signal
exceeds a predetermined threshold for said predetermined duration; and



Public Version
a protection circuit coupled to said timer circuit, said first switch and

said second switch for shutting down said first switch and said second switch

after said predetermined duration.
JX-1 (“382 patent) at 11-12.

The ALJ construed “a timer circuit coupied to said first feedback signal line for providing
a time-out sequence of a predetermined duration when said first voltage signal exceeds a
predetermined threshold for said predetermined duration” to mean “a circuit [coupled to said first
feedback signal line] that limits the time for an overvoltage condition to persist,” where the timer
circuit causes the limiting action “when said first voltage signal continually exceeds a
predetermined threshold for said predetermined duration.” ID at 18-23. As agreed by the parties,
the ALJ construed “predetermined” to mean “determined beforehand.” With the understanding
that “determined beforehand” means before an overvoltage condition occurs, we adopt these
constructions.
B. Infringement

1. LX1691 Microsemi Products

The LX1691 product has | ] when an overvoltage condition

exists over several [ ]. ID at 72-73. When [
], an overvoltage condition is determined to exist, and the device records a fault. Id Ifa

fault is recorded in [ ], the inverter controller shuts down. Id. at
73-74. The ALJ found that the L.X1691 product meets the “timer circuit” limitation based on

testimony of Microsemi engineer, Mr. Choi, who testified that each time a persistent fault, i.e., a

fault that continues over at least | ], occurs at the beginning of a |



Public Version
], the device is shut down after a fixed “predetermined” time.* ID at 74-75 (citing Choi Tr.
at 2312:6-2313:3; 2313:21-2314:3). This portion of Mr. Choi’s testimony, however, addresses
only persistent faults that occur at the beginning of a [ ], when in actuality, these
faults can occur at any time. As Microsemi points out (Microsemi Pet. at 31), the [

] run independently of the overvoltage condition which can occur at the beginning,
middle, or end of | ]. Because overvoltage faults are unpredictable in practice,
we understand the ALJ’s construction to require that the accused products, in order to infringe,
must determine the claimed “predetermined duration” before a fault occurs, but without exact
knowledge of when or how the fault will occur.

In the example shown in the LX1691 datasheet (CX1450), there are [
]. When [
] an overvoltage event. ID at 73-75;
CX-1450 at 59756. When [

], the device shuts down. Id. The [

]; see also Chapman Tr. 2502:23-2506:14, 2509:2-14; Choi Tr. at

2238:7-2241:25, 2243:6-2248:24, 2249:24-2250:13. A timing diagram is reproduced below:

* An intermittent fault can also cause the device to shut down if an overvoltage condition is
determined to exist in [

1.
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]

CX-1450 at 59756. The amount of time from when the overvoltage fault arises until shutdown

(i.e., the time-out duration or time out period) will vary depending on when in the |

] and in the overall [ ] the fault occurs. See CX-1450C, at 59756; see also
Chapman Tr. at 2509. Because faults are checked and | ] by the LX1691
circuit at the same time for [ ], a fault

that begins toward the end of [

will have a different time-out duration from a fault that begins at the beginning of |

1. See CX1450 at 59756 (timing diagram in run mode);
Chapman Tr. 2508:21-2510:18; Choi Tr. at 2252:1-14. In other words, a persistent fault that
begins at the beginning of the [ ] will cause shutdown at the same time as a
persistent fault that begins in the middle of the [ ], even though these two
faults are allowed to persist for different amounts of time and therefore have different time-out
durations. Because the duration of the time-out period depends on the fault which is itself

unpredictable (Chapman Tr. at 2512:11-21), we find that the LX1691 products do not meet the
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“predetermined duration” limitation. We therefore reverse the ALJ’s finding that the LX1691
products infringe the asserted claims of the ‘382 patent.
2. LX1693 Microsemi Products
An overvoltage condition at the lamp in the LX1693 products is presented at a VSNS pin,
which is compared to a [ ]. ID at 85.
During a “RUN operation,” if the VSNS voltage is greater than or equal to the | 1,
the comparator causes |
], when the controller shuts down. Id. at 85-86. If the
[ ] is greater than or equal to [ ], the controller shuts down
immediately by connecting [
]. CX-215at 12;JX-117 at 4, 6.
The shutdown duration of the L.X1693 products can vary depending on whether the
overvoltage fault is greater than |
]. ID at 86; see also JX-117C at 6, Fig. 2. The flow chart (Fig. 2) in the application note
(JX-117C), which describes the design and operation of the .X1693 products, shows that both
ércing and overvoltage faults can occur during the “RUN operation.” An excerpt of this flow

chart is reproduced below:
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The duration of the time-out period cannot be determined before the fault occurs because it

depends on the magnitude of the fault, which is unpredictable. Accordingly, we find that the

LX1693 Microsemi products also do not meet the “predetermined duration” limitation.
Furthermore, Figure 12 of the application note shows a graph of the overvoltage at the

VSNS pin over time in which only the [

[

JX-117 at 12. Most of the |
] because the LX1693 devices |

Choi Tr. at 2293:11-20, 2324:8-18; Chapman Tr. at 2590:2-12; see also JX-117 at 9 |
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]. Therefore, we find that the peak values of the voltage signal at the VSNS pin do not
“continually” [ ], and so the 1. X1693 Microsemi products do not meet
the “first voltage signal exceeds a predetermined threshold for said predetermined duration”
limitation, as the ALJ correctly construed this language. Accordingly, we reverse the ALJ’s
ﬁndirig of infringement by the LX1693 products for this additional reason.’

C. Domestic Industry: Technical Prong

The ALJ found that complainant O2 Micro’s domestic products OZ960 and 0Z964 do
not practice the claims of the ‘382 patent, and therefore O2 Micro does not satisfy the domestic
industry requirement. ID at 175. In particular, he found that these products meet all of the
limitations of claims 1 and 8 except for the “timer circuit” limitation. Although the domestic
products respond to an overvoltage condition, i.e., a voltage signal that is greater than [ ], by
charging a capacitor for a period of time predetermined by the capacitance, the ALJ found that
“the evidence does not show whether the voltage signal continually exceeds [ ] while the
capacitor is charging.” ID at 176. Thus, he found that O2 Micro failed to demonstrate that each
and every element of the claim is met by its domestic products. His finding was based in part on
his view that the “testimony by Dr. Lin creates some doubt as to whether the timer circuit

limitations...are met.” ID at 176-77.

3 Because we find no direct infringement by any respondent, we also find there can be no
indirect infringement. See DSU Med. Corp. v. JMS Co., 471 F.3d 1293, 1303-04 (Fed. Cir.
2006). Therefore, we do not reach O2 Micro’s arguments that the ALJ did not adequately
address the issues of indirect infringement.

10
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The ALJ’s reliance on the “doubt” created by Dr. Lin’s lack of knowledge regarding the
OVP voltage, however, suggests that he applied a more demanding burden of proof than is
warranted. O2 Micro was not required to prove beyond doubt that its domestic products have a‘
“timer circuit.” The burden of proof for the existence of domestic industry is a preponderance of
the evidence, meaning that existence of the claimed “timer circuit,” as construed by the ALJ, in
the OZ960 and/or 0Z964 products needs only to be more likely than not. See e.g., Certain
Nitrile Gloves, Inv. No. 337-TA-608.612, Initial Determination at 113 (August 25, 2008)
(unreviewed in relevant part); Bayer AG v. Elan Pharm. Research Corp., 212 F.3d 1241 (Fed.

Cir. 2000); see also Symbol Tech., Inc. v. Opticon, Inc., 935 F.2d 1569, 1575-76 (Fed. Cir. 1991).

[

11
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Because we find the evidence of record shows that the [ ] “continually
exceeds” the [ ] threshold in an open lamp condition at the startup mode, we reverse the
~ALJ ’s finding that O2 Micro’s products do not meet the technical prong of the domestic industry
requirement. See JX-89C; JX-168C; CX-30C; CX-29C; RDX-2; Fl'asck Tr. at 1626:3-9;
1651:14-20, 1660:7-1661:8, 1662:3-23, 1666:18-1667:4, 1802:1-1804:13, 1803:5-1804:10; Lin
Tr. at 771:16-24, 769:9-21.

III. CONCLUSION
We affirm the ALJ’s finding of no violation of section 337 on modified grounds. In

particular, we have determined to review and reverse the ALJ’s findings that the LX1691 and

13
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LX1693 products infringe, as well as his finding that O2 Micro does not satisfy the domestic

industry requirement. We adopt all other findings and conclusions in the ID that are not

inconsistent with this opinion.

By order of the Commission.

ilfam R. Bis

Acting Secretary to the Commission

Issued: July 19, 2010

.14
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Pursuant to the Notice of Investigation, 74 Fed. Reg. 2099 (2009), this is the Initial
Determination of the Investigation in the Matter of Certain Cold Cathode Fluorescent Lamp
(“CCFL”) Inverter Circuits and Products Containing Same, United States International Trade
Commission Investigation No. 337-TA-666. See 19 C.F.R. § 210.42(a).

With respect to Respondents ASUSTeK Computer Inc. and ASUS Computer
International, it is held that no violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19
U.S.C. § 1337), has occurred in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation,
or the sale within the United States after importation, of certain CCFL inverter circuits by reason
of infringement of one or more of claims 1, 2,4, 7, 8,9, 11 and 14 of United States Patent No.
7,417,382.

With respect to Respondent Monolithic Power Systems, Inc., it held that no violation of
Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, has occurred in the impqrtation into the
United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after importation, of
certain CCFL inverter circuits by reason of infringement of one or more of claims 1,2, 4,7, 8,9
11 and 14 of United States Patent No. 7,417,382.

With respect to Respondent Microsemi Corporation, it held that no violation of Section
337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, has occurred in the importation into the United States,
the sale for tmportation, or the sale within the United States after importation, of certain CCFL
inverter circuits by reason of infringement of one or more of claims 1, 2, 4, 8, 9 and 11 of United
States Patent No. 7,417,382.

It is further held that a domestic industry does not exist that practices U.S. Patent No.

7,417,382.
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I. BACKGROUND.

A. Institution and Procedural History of this Investigation.

By publication of a Notice of Investigation in the Federal Register on January 8, 2009,
pursuant to subsection (b) of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, the Commission
instituted Investigation No. 337-TA-666 with respect to U.S. Patent No. 7,417,382 (the “382
patent”), U.S. Patent No. 6,856,519 (the “*519 patent™), U.S. Patent No. 6,809,938 (the ““938
patent”) and U.S. Patent No. 7,120,035 (the “*035 patent™) to determine the following:

whether there is a violation of subsection (a)(1)(B) of section 337
in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation,
or the sale within the United States after importation of certain
cold cathode fluorescent lamp (“CCFL”) inverter circuits or
products containing same that infringe one or more of claims 1, 2,
4,6-9, 11, 13, and 14 of U.S. Patent No. 7,417,382; claim 7 of U.S.
Patent No. 6,856,519; claims 1-3 and 6 of U.S. Patent No.
6,809,938; and claim 4 of U.S. Patent No. 7,120,035, and whether
an industry in the United States exists as required by subsection
(a)(2) of section 337].]
74 Fed. Reg. 2099 (2009).

02 Micro International Ltd. of the Cayman Islands and O2 Micro Inc. of Santa Clara,
California (collectively “O2 Micro™) are named in the Notice of Investigation as the
Complainants. /d. The Respondents named in the Notice of Investigation were Monolithic
Power Systems Inc. of San Jose, California; Microsemi Corporation of Irvine, California;
ASUSTeK Computer Inc. of Taipei, Taiwan; ASUSTeK Computer International America of
Fremont, California; .G Electronics of Seoul, Korea; .G Electronics U.S.A. of Englewood
Cliffs, New Jersey; LG Display Co., Ltd. of Seoul, Korea; LG Display America, Inc. of San Jose,
California; BenQ Corporation of Taipei, Taiwan; and BenQ America Corp. of Irvine, California.

Id. The Commission Investigative Staff of the Commission’s Office of Unfair Import

Investigations is also a party in this Investigation. Id.
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On May 13, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge issued an initial determination granting
an unopposed motion to amend the Complaint and Notice of Investigation to correct the name of
Respondent ASUSTeK Computer International America to ASUS Computer International. (See
Order No. 8.) The Commission determined not to review the order. (See Notice of Commission
Decision Not to Review an Initial Determination Correcting the Name of ASUS Computer
International in the Complaint and Notice of Investigation (June 2, 2009).)

On June 22, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge issued an initial determination granting
an unopposed motion to partially terminate the Investigation with respect to U.S. Patent Nos.
6,856,519, 6,809,938, and 7,120,035. (See Order No. 12.) The Commission determined not to
review the order. (See Notice of Commission Decision Not to Review the Administrative Law
Judge’s Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to the ‘519, ‘938, and ‘035
Patents (July 13, 2009).)

On June 23, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge issued an initial determination granting
a joint motion to terminate Respondents BenQ Corporation and BenQ America Corp. (See Order
No. 13.) The Commission determined not to review the order. (See Notice of Commission
Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to
Respondents Ben(QQ Corporation and BenQQ America Corp. Based on a Settlement Agreement
(July 16, 2009).)

On August 31, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge issued an initial determination
granting a motion to terminate Respondents LG Electronics, Inc. and LG Electronics USA, Inc.
from the Investigation. (See Order No. 24.) The Commission determined not to review the order.

(See Notice of Commission Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating
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the Investigation as to Respondents LG Electronics, Inc. and LG Electronics USA, Inc. Based on
a Settlement Agreement (September 17, 2009).)

On September 9, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge issued an initial determination
granting a joint motion to terminate Respondents LG Display Co., Ltd. and LG Display America,
Inc. from the Investigation. (See Order No. 25.) The Commission determined not to review the
order. (See Notice of Commission Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination
Terminating the Investigation with Respect to Respondents LG Display Co., Ltd. and LG
Display America, Inc. Based on a Consent Order (September 25, 2009).)

On September 22, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge issued an initial determination
granting Complainants O2 Micro International Ltd. and O2 Micro Inc.’s motion for summary
determination regarding the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement. (See Order
No. 30.) The Administrative Law Judge found that the economic prong was satisfied based on
Complainants’ investments in the production of the OZ964 inverter circuit by X-FAB, and the
direct investments in research and development and product support, including testing, service
and repair, for the 0Z960 and 0Z964 CCFL inverter circuits. (/d. at 6.) The Commission
determined not to review the order. (See Notice of Commission Determination Not to Review an
Initial Determination Granting Summary Determination as to the Economic Prong of Domestic
Industry (October 20, 2009).)

On September 24, 2009, the Administrative Law Judge issued an initial determination
granting in part Complainants’ motion for summary determination that Respondent ASUSTeK
Computer, Inc.’s activities satisfy the importation requirement of Section 337. (See Order No.
31.) The Administrative Law Judge found that the importation requirement was established for

purposes of this Investigation through the importation, sale for importation, and sale after
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importation into the United States of the accused products by ASUSTeK. (/d at9.) The
Commission determined not to review this order. (See Notice of Commission Determination Not
to Review an Initial Determination Granting In-Part a Motion for Summary Determination;
Summary Determination of Importation (October 21, 2009).)

The evidentiary hearing on the question of violation of Section 337 began on October 19,
2009, and ended on October 30, 2009. Respondent Microsemi Corporation (“Microsemi™);
Respondent Monolithic Power System, Inc. (“MPS”); Respondents ASUSTeK Computer Inc.
and ASUS Computer International (collectively, “ASUS”); Complainants O2 Micro International
Ltd. and O2 Micro Inc. (“O2 Micro™); and Commission Investigative Staff (“Staff”), were

represented by counsel at the hearing.

B. The Parties.
1. Complainants O2 Micro International Ltd. and O2 Micro Inc.

02 Micro International Ltd. is a Cayman Islands Corporation with its principal place of
business in George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands. (Am. Complaint at 2; CBr. at 5;
SFF 11 (undisputed).) O2 Micro International Ltd. “designs, develops, and markets high
performance integrated circuits for power management and security operations, as well as
systems security solutions.” (CBr. at 5; SFF 12 (undisputed).) O2 Micro Inc. is a wholly owned
subsidiary of O2 Micro International Ltd. and is located in Santa Clara, California. (Am.
Complaint at 2; CBr. at 5; SFF 14 (undisputed).) O2 Micro Inc. “designs, develops, tests, sells
and supports” CCFL inverter controllers for O2 Micro inverter circuit designs and other products.

(Am. Complaint at 2-3; CBr. at 5.)
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2. Respondent Monolithic Power Systems Inc.

MPS is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business in San Jose, California.
(RBr. at 6; Am. Complaint at 3; SFF 16 (undisputed).) MPS is allegedly engaged in the
manufacture, sale for importation, importation, and sale after importation into the United States
of CCFL inverter controllers for inverter circuits that infringe certain claims of the ‘382 patent.
(Am. Complaint at 3.) According to O2 Micro, MPS sells the accused CCFL inverter controllers
for inverter circuits to original equipment manufacturers for importation in such products as
notebook computers and LCD televisions. (Id. at 3-4.)

3. Respondent Microsemi Corporation.

Microsemi is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business in Irvine,
California. (Am. Complaint at 4; SFF 18 (undisputed).) Microsemi is allegedly engaged in the
manufacture, sale for importation, importation, and sale after importation into the United States
of CCFL inverter controllers for inverter circuits that infringe the ‘382 patent. (Am. Complaint
at 4.) According to O2 Micro, Microsemi sells the accused CCFL inverter controllers for
inverter circuits to original equipment manufacturers for importation in such products as
notebook computers and LCD televisions. (/d.)

4. Respondents ASUSTeK Computer Inc. and ASUS Computer
International.

ASUSTeK Computer Inc. is a Taiwanese corporation with a principal place of business in
Taipei, Taiwan. (Am. Complaint at 4; RBr. at 6; SFF 20 (undisputed).) ASUSTeK Computer
Inc. is allegedly engaged in the manufacture, sale for importation, importation, and sale after
importation into the United States of notebook computers and/or LCD monitors that contain
CCFL inverter circuits with MPS inverter controllers that infringe the ‘382 patent. (Am.

Complaint at 4.) ASUS Computer International is a wholly owned subsidiary of ASUSTeK
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Computer Inc. and is located in Fremont, California. (Am. Complaint at 5; RBr. at 6; SFF 23
(undisputed).) ASUS Computer International is allegedly engaged in the sale for importation,
importation, and sale after importation into the United States of notebook computers and/or LCD
monitors that contain CCFL inverter circuits with MPS inverter controllers that infringe the ‘382
patent. (Am. Complaint at 4.)
5. Respondents LG Electronics and LG Electronics U.S.A.
Respondents LG Electronics and LG Electronics U.S.A. were terminated from the
Investigation. (See Order No. 24.)
6. Respondents LG Display Co., Ltd. and LG Display America, Inc.
Respondents LG Display Co., Ltd. and LG Display America, Inc. were terminated from
the Investigation. (See Order No. 25.)
7. Respondents Ben(Q Corporation and BenQQ America Corp.
Respondents Corporation and BenQ America Corp. were terminated from the

Investigation. (See Order No. 13.)

C. Overview of the Technology.

At issue are cold cathode fluorescent lamp (“CCFL”) inverter circuits and products, such
as notebook computers and liquid crystal display (“LLCD’’) monitors, that contain them. (Am.
Complaint at 7.) These inverter circuits are used to convert direct current (“DC”) to the
alternating current (“AC”) used by the CCFLs and to control the amount of power the CCFLs
receive. (Id. at 8-9.) These inverter circuits also include protection circuitry to respond to a
dangerous high voltage or “over-voltage” condition resulting from a broken or disconnected

lamp (an “open lamp condition™). (Id. at 9.)
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D. The Patent at Issue.

This Investigation concerns U.S. Patent No. 7,417,382 (the “‘382 patent™), entitled “High
Efficiency Adaptive DC/AC Converter,” which resulted from a continuation application
claiming priority to U.S. Patent Application No. 10/776,417 filed February 11, 2004 and now
U.S. Pat. No. 6,804,129, which itself is a continuation application of U.S. Patent Application No.
10/132,016 filed April 24, 2002, which itself is a continuation application of U.S. Patent
Application No. 09/850,222 filed May 7, 2001, now U.S. Pat. No. 6,396,722, which itselfis a
continuation application of U.S. Patent Application No. 09/437,081 filed November 9, 1999,
now U.S. Pat. No. 6,259,615, all of which claim priority to U.S. Patent Application No.
60/145,118, filed July 22, 1999. (See JX-1 at O2ITC 037273.) The ‘382 patent was filed on
September 7, 2004, and issued on August 26, 2008. (/d.) The ‘382 patent names Yung-Lin Lin
as the inventor. (/d.) The ‘382 patent was assigned to O2Micro International Limited. (/d.)

The ‘382 patent discloses a DC to AC power converter circuit “for controllably
delivering power to a load.” (JX-1 at 2:33-34.) The ‘382 patent discloses a switch network with
two sets of overlapping switches 80 [Switch_A & Switch_D, Switch_B & Switch_C] coupled to
a DC voltage source 12 [V1]. (/d at 2:35-3:19, Fig. 2.) Drive circuitry 50 controls the switches
80, alternating the conduction path between the two sets of switches.' (/d.) Below is a figure of

one of the embodiments of the inverter circuit disclosed in the ‘382 patent.

! This results in a “switched AC signal.” (Tr. at 320:22-23 (Lin); SFF 27 (undisputed).)
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FIG. 2

(JX-1, Fig. 2.) The switches 80 are connected to the primary side of a transformer [TX1, left
side], and the secondary side of the transformer [TX1, right side]” is connected to a load 20, such
as a CCFL on an LCD panel. (/d. at 2:43-48, 3:20-34, Fig. 2.) Because the CCFL has high
impedance characteristics, a significant amount of energy must be delivered to ignite® the CCFL.
(Id. at 7:20-24.) After the CCFL is lit, the CCFL impedance “decreases to its normal operating
value.” (Id at 7:25-26.) The ‘382 patent discloses a feedback signal [FB] as part of a feedback
control loop 40 “permitting controllable power to be delivered to the load.” (/d at 2:48-50, 5:49-
52, Fig. 2.) The ‘382 patent further discloses an over-voltage protection circuit 60 to protect the

converter circuit and the load from an open lamp condition.* (/4. at 8:1-9:9, Fig. 2.)

> The transformer is part of the “resonant tank,” which “steps up” the voltage and smoothes out the AC waveform.
(Tr. at 322:16 (Lin).)

® This may also be referred to as “striking the lamp.” (Tr. at 315:23-25 (Lin).)

* If, for example, the CCFL lamp becomes broken or disconnected (open lamp), the inverter could provide
excessive voltage resulting in arcing and damage to the components or operator. (Tr. at 326:13-329:5 (Lin).) “In an
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The 382 patent has eight asserted claims, two of which are independent. Asserted claims
1,2,4,7,8,9,11 and 14 read as follows:

1. A DC to AC cold cathode fluorescent lamp inverter circuit, comprising:

[a.] a step-up transformer with a primary winding and a secondary winding
for providing increased voltage to a cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

[b.] a first switch coupled to said step-up transformer for selectively allowing
said step-up transformer to receive DC voltage of a first polarity;

[c.] a second switch coupled to said step-up transformer for selectively
allowing said step-up transformer to receive DC voltage of a second
polarity;

[d.] a capacitor divider electrically coupled to said cold cathode fluorescent
lamp for providing a first voltage signal representing a voltage across
said cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

[e.] a first feedback signal line coupled to said capacitor divider for receiving
said first voltage signal from said capacitor divider representing said
voltage across said cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

[f.] a timer circuit coupled to said first feedback signal line for providing a
time-out sequence of a predetermined duration when said first voltage
signal exceeds a predetermined threshold for said predetermined
duration; and

[g.] a protection circuit coupled to said timer circuit, said first switch and said
second switch for shutting down said first switch and said second
switch after said predetermined duration.

2. A DC to AC cold cathode fluorescent lamp inverter circuit as claimed in
claim 1 wherein said predetermined duration is sufficient for ignition of said cold
cathode fluorescent lamp when properly operating.

4. A DC to AC cold cathode fluorescent lamp inverter circuit as claimed in claim
1 further comprising:

[a.] a sense resistor electrically coupled to said cold cathode fluorescent lamp
and electrically coupled to ground for providing a second voltage
signal representing current through said cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

open lamp condition, the circuitry of Figure 2 protects the device by shutting down the power before electrical
arcing or similar problems can occur.” (SFF 33 (undisputed).)
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[b.] asecond feedback signal line coupled to said sense resistor for receiving
said second voltage signal from said sense resistor representing current
through said cold cathode fluorescent lamp; and

[c.] a feedback control circuit coupled to said second feedback signal line for
adjusting power to said cold cathode fluorescent lamp to a power level
such that said second voltage signal approaches a reference value
representing desired load conditions of said cold cathode fluorescent
lamp.

7. A DC to AC cold cathode fluorescent lamp inverter circuit as claimed in
claim 1 further comprising:

[a.] a third switch coupled to said first switch and said step-up transformer for
providing a first electrical path through said-up transformer to ground
when said third switch and said first switch are simultaneously on;

[b.] a fourth switch coupled to said second switch and said-up transformer for
providing a second electrical path through said step-up transformer to
ground when said fourth switch and said second switch are
simultaneously on;

[c.] a sense resistor electrically coupled to said cold cathode fluorescent lamp
and electrically coupled to ground for providing a second voltage
signal representing current through said cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

[d.] asecond feedback signal line coupled to said sense resistor for receiving
said second voltage signal from said sense resistor representing current
through said cold cathode fluorescent lamp; and

[e.] a feedback control circuit coupled to said second feedback signal line,
said first switch and said third switch for adjusting time when said
third switch and said first switch are simultaneously on such that said
second voltage signal approaches a reference value representing
desired load conditions of said cold cathode fluorescent lamp.

8. A liquid crystal display unit comprising:
[a.] aliquid crystal display panel;

[b.] a cold cathode fluorescent lamp for illuminating said liquid crystal
display panel;
[c.] a step-up transformer with a primary winding and a secondary winding

coupled to said cold cathode fluorescent lamp for providing increased
voltage to said cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

[d.] a first switch coupled to said step-up transformer for selectively allowing
said step-up transformer to receive DC voltage of a first polarity;

[e.] a second switch coupled to said step-up transformer for selectively
allowing said step-up transformer to receive DC voltage of a second

polarity;
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[f.] a capacitor divider electrically coupled to said cold cathode fluorescent
lamp for providing a first voltage signal representing a voltage across
said cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

[g.] a first feedback signal line coupled to said capacitor divider for receiving
said first voltage signal from said capacitor divider representing said
voltage across said cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

[h.] a timer circuit coupled to said first feedback signal line for providing a
time-out sequence of a predetermined duration when said first voltage
signal exceeds a predetermined threshold for said predetermined
duration; and

[i.] a protection circuit coupled to said timer circuit, said first switch and said
second switch for shutting down said first switch and said second
switch after said predetermined duration.

9. A liquid crystal display unit as claimed in claim 8 wherein said predetermined
duration is sufficient for ignition of said cold cathode fluorescent lamp when
properly operating.

11. A liquid crystal display unit as claimed in claim 8 further

[a.] a sense resistor electrically coupled to said cold cathode fluorescent lamp
and electrically coupled to ground for providing a second voltage
signal representing current through said cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

[b.] a second feedback signal line coupled to said sense resistor for receiving
said second voltage signal from said sense resistor representing current
through said cold cathode fluorescent lamp;

[c.] a feedback control circuit coupled to said second feedback signal line for
adjusting power to said cold cathode fluorescent lamp to a power level
such that said second voltage signal approaches a reference value
representing desired load conditions of said cold cathode fluorescent
lamp.

14. A liquid crystal display unit as claimed in claim 8 further comprising:

[a.] a third switch coupled to said first switch and said step-up transformer for
providing a first electrical path through said step-up transformer to
ground when said third switch and said first switch are simultaneously
on;

[b.] a fourth switch coupled to said second switch and said step-up
transformer for providing a second electrical path through said step-up
transformer to ground when said fourth switch and said second switch
are simultaneously on;

[c.] a sense resistor electrically coupled to said cold cathode fluorescent lamp
and electrically coupled to ground for providing a second voltage
signal representing current through said cold cathode fluorescent lamp:
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[d.] a second feedback signal line coupled to said sense resistor for receiving
said second voltage signal from said sense resistor representing current
through said cold cathode fluorescent lamp; and

[e.] a feedback control circuit coupled to said second feedback signal line,
said first switch and said third switch for adjusting time when said
third switch and said first switch are simultaneously on such that said
second voltage signal approaches a reference value representing
desired load conditions of said cold cathode fluorescent lamp.

(JX-1 at O2ITC 037301-3.)

E. The Products at Issue.

The products at issue in this Investigation are CCFL inverter circuits, including products
such as modules